1995

Utah v. Wallace : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a conviction of Possession of a Controlled Substance With Intent to Distribute, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Section 58-37-8 U.C.A. 1953, as amended, Possession of a Controlled Substance With Intent to Distribute, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Section 58-37-8 U.C.A. 1953, as amended, and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, a Class B Misdemeanor, in violation of Section 58-37a-5(1) U.C.A. 1953, as amended. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal under Section 78-2-2(3) U.C.A., 1953 as amended, because this is an appeal from a District Court in a criminal case involving a felony.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Did the trial court err in denying defendant's Motion to Suppress? Trooper Hancock's warrantless search of defendant's vehicle was an investigatory search for which a warrant was required. Trooper Hancock's failure to obtain a warrant prior to conducting a search of defendant's vehicle, violated

Article 1, Section 14 of the Utah State Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: "In reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress, we accord no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and review them for correctness. State v. Beavers, 859 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah App. 1993). However, we will disturb the trial court's underlying factual findings "only if those findings are clearly erroneous." Id. State v. South 885 P. 2d 795 (Utah App. 1994).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The incident report of Arlow T. Hancock, Utah Highway Patrolman, sets forth a detailed set of facts surrounding the initial contact and subsequent search of the vehicle in which the Defendant was riding. Those details are set forth below in numerical order:

1. On April 17, 1995, I was dispatched to a one vehicle accident on State Road 30. Upon arrival I located a female by the name of Penny Jo Wallace. She was sitting on the ground beside her vehicle. Several people who had stopped had given her a blanket that she had around her.

2. I also spoke to a man who said he was injured. He is Roland H. Wheeler. He also had a blanket around him. I asked him to sit down and try to stay calm. He indicated that he was in a lot of pain. I advised both people that an ambulance was on the way.

3. A Tim Potter walked up to me and told me that he was traveling directly behind this vehicle and saw it wreck. I asked

him to walk back to my patrol car to give me a written statement.

4. I returned to talk to the victims. I asked Penny Jo Wallace if she had a driver's license, registration and proof of insurance. She told me it was all in her car. I went to the car and found it locked. I went back and informed Penny Wallace the car was locked. I also told her the key was in the ignition and the car was running. Roland H. Wheeler got another set of keys out of his pocket and handed them to me. Penny Wallace then told me, "my driver's license is in a brown wallet in my purse. My purse is between the seats."

5. I went back to the car, unlocked the door and retrieved the purse. I brought the purse to Penny Wallace and opened it in front of her. She said, "my license is in that brown wallet." I took a brown wallet out of the purse and found a Utah driver license. (License No. 150776018). I asked if she had a registration and proof of insurance. She said "It's in the glove box, you should be able to find it."

6. I went to the vehicle and unlocked the passenger door. At this time both victims were loaded into the ambulance and transported to Logan Hospital.

7. I located a registration and proof of insurance in the glove box. The vehicle had a large amount of personal belongings in it. I could smell what I believed to be burnt marijuana in the vehicle.

8. I returned to my vehicle and filled out the accident report form. Trooper Kendrick had arrived earlier and I asked him

if he would do a field diagram.

9. The driver, Penny Wallace, had requested wrecker from Box Elder County. We called Bryce's Auto Body from Honeyville. When I finished with the accident form I requested Trooper Kendrick to assist me in doing an inventory of the vehicle's contents so it could be released to the wrecker.

10. Trooper Kendrick got an inventory form from his patrol vehicle. I returned to the passenger side of the Wallace vehicle. I opened the front passenger door and could once again smell burnt marijuana. I noticed a small wooden box on the floor in front of the seat. It contained a marijuana pipe, fine screen material and rolling paper.

11. I told Trooper Kendrick what I had found. I also notified dispatch and had them send Trooper Robert Sheffer to the hospital. I requested him to place Penny Wallace under arrest for driving under the influence of drugs and request a blood test. I asked him also to place Roland H. Wheeler under arrest.

12. Trooper Kendrick and myself decided to start at the trunk so we could do the inventory in an orderly fashion. As we opened the trunk I saw a white plastic bottle with a metal tube in the side. It had residue in it and appeared to be a marijuana pipe. We also located numerous other drug paraphernalia items. (see attached evidence list). Located were syringes, pipes, glasses and metal spoons and a butane torch. We also found several scales including an RCBS scale in a box. Also located in the same box was a marijuana pipe and a chart of measurements and street terms for

drugs.

13. I'd located a basket of what looked like mens clothing. In with the clothing we found a black case which contained approximately fourteen (14) baggies of what appeared to be marijuana. Also found were metal containers which contained numerous paper bindles. The paper bindles contained a white powder believed to be cocaine. Some of the bindles appeared to have a lump in them that could be methamphetamines.

14. I called dispatch again and requested a supervisor. Sergeant Larry Swanger responded. We informed him as to what we had found and he witnessed the trunk inventory and the rest of the car. We finished the inventory of the trunk and moved to the interior of the car. In the rear seat of the vehicle we found more paper that contained a white paper that appeared to be cocaine. Also in the back seat were numerous pornographic magazines.

15. The wrecker from Honeyville was cancelled and Wolford's Auto Body was sent for a state impound. The vehicle was removed from the scene upon completion of the inventory. The wrecker driver was asked to keep the vehicle in a secured area because of all the personal effects inside.

16. I transported the evidence we had found to the Highway Patrol Office. Detective Troy Nielson of the Cache County Sheriff's Office looked over the items we had found. Items were then placed in our evidence safe by myself.

17. Trooper Ryan Bauer responded to the Sheriff's office. Trooper Bauer being a drug recognition expert requested Penny

Wallace to do some tests. She complied with his request and was found to be under the influence of drugs.

18. Penny Wallace and Roland Wheeler were both booked into the Cache County Jail on numerous charges. (All of the facts set down heretofore were taken from the Utah Highway Patrol Instant Report filed by Officer Hancock pages 1-6.)

19. Penny Jo Wallace was issued a citation number D179047 by Trooper A.T. Hancock of the Utah Highway Patrol and although the citation was a D.U.I. Summons and Citation Form it lists the following violations: D.U.I. Class A with injuries, Possession of Marijuana with Intent to Distribute, a third degree felony, Possession of Cocaine with Intent to Distribute, a second degree felony, Unsafe Lane Travel, Drug Paraphernalia, and No Drug Stamp, a third degree felony.

20. The arresting officer, A.T. Hancock, filed a D.U.I. Report form D179047, a copy of which is attached hereto, made no observations at the scene and indicates that Penny Jo Wallace consented to a chemical test, however, there is other evidence that Trooper Hancock was not present when the consent was given and the blood was drawn.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Trooper Hancock's warrantless search of defendant's vehicle was an investigatory search for which a warrant was required. Trooper Hancock's failure to obtain a warrant prior to conducting a search of defendant's vehicle, violated Article 1, Section 14 of

ARGUMENT

Trooper Hancock's report states that he commenced the search of defendant's vehicle in order to inventory its contents to prepare it for release to a private wrecker. The defendant had requested that Bryce's Autobody in Honeyville be summoned to tow her car. Trooper Hancock called Bryce's Autobody for that purpose. He then commenced a search of defendant's vehicle.

In order to determine whether the search of defendant's vehicle constituted a valid inventory search, the court must determine whether Officer Hancock possessed a "reasonable and proper justification to impound the defendant's vehicle, either through explicit statutory authorization or by the circumstances surrounding the initial stop." State v. Strickling, 844 P. 2d 979, 986 (Utah App. 1992)

Utah Code Annotated Section 41-1a-1101, 1953, as amended, provides that a peace officer may take possession of a vehicle under the following circumstances:

(1) The division or any peace officer, without a warrant, may seize and take possession of any vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor:

(a) that is placed on water or is being operated with improper registration;

(b) that the division or the peace officer has reason to believe has been stolen;

(c) on which any identification number has been defaced, altered, or obliterated;

(d) that has been abandoned on the public highways;

(e) for which the registration or title fees have not been paid; or

(f) for which the applicant has written a check for registration or title fees that has not been honored by the applicant's bank and that is not paid within 30 days.

None of these sections provided Trooper Hancock with statutory authorization to inventory and impound the defendant's vehicle.

The Utah Highway Patrol vehicle inventory sheet prepared in this case indicates that the basis for the inventory was DUI. See attached inventory form. Utah Code Annotated Section 41-6-44.30, 1953, as amended, provides that under certain circumstances, vehicles may be impounded if the driver is arrested for driving under the influence of intoxicants:

"The Legislature finds that under this section it is contrary to the safety of the public to leave vehicles unattended on highways.

(1) If a peace officer arrests or cites the operator of a vehicle for violating Section 41-6-44 or 41-6-4410, or a local ordinance similar to Section 41-6-44, which complies with Subsection 41-6-43 (1), the officer shall seize and impound the vehicle,....."

According to Trooper Hancock's report, he arrived at the accident scene at 13:35. He obtained the driver's license, registration and proof of insurance out of the defendant's vehicle and at that time detected the odor of burnt marijuana. He then

filled out the accident report form and immediately thereafter commenced searching the vehicle, "so that it could be released to the wrecker." When he opened the door to begin the inventory, he again smelled marijuana. He noticed a wooden box on the floor in front of the seat. He opened it and found a marijuana pipe and rolling papers. He notified dispatch of this discovery and asked that Trooper Robert Sheffer go to the hospital and place Penny Jo Wallace and Roland Wheeler under arrest for DUI. The attached warrantless arrest and probable cause statement prepared by Trooper Sheffer indicates that at 14:30 the defendant was placed under arrest for DUI, Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, Possession of Cocaine with Intent to Distribute, Possession of Marijuana with Intent to Distribute and No Drug Tax Stamp. The defendants could not have been charged for the drug related offenses at that time unless the search had already been completed. The search provided evidence which lead to the driver's arrest for DUI. Because the search was commenced prior to the driver's arrest and citation for DUI, U.C.A 41-6-43 (1) could not have provided the authorization for the search and impound.

Because no statutory basis existed for this impound, the court must look to the circumstances of the stop to determine whether an inventory search was justified. See State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d 264 (Utah 1985):

"In order to support a finding that a valid inventory search has taken place, the court must first determine whether there was a reasonable and proper justification for the impound of the vehicle. This justification, and thus lawful impoundment, can be had either through explicit statutory authorization or by the circumstances surrounding the initial stop. If impoundment was

neither authorized nor necessary, the search was unreasonable." Hygh at 268.

The Utah Highway Patrol in its general order No. 83-9 (Revised July 1991) outlines those circumstances under which vehicles should be towed and/or impounded:

a. When any vehicle is parked, stopped or standing on a roadway, whether attended or unattended, where it was practical to stop off the roadway (U.C.A. 41-6-101).

b. When any vehicle is illegally left standing on any highway, bridge, causeway or tunnel where such vehicle constitutes an obstruction to traffic (U.C.A. 41-6-102 (b)).

c. When an officer has indications that the vehicle had been stolen or taken without the owner's consent (U.C.A. 41-6-102(c) (i) and 41-1-115).

d. When a vehicle on a roadway is so disabled as to be a hazard to traffic and the person or persons in charge of such vehicle are unable to provide for its custody or removal (U.C.A. 41-6-102 (2)).

e. When the person driving or in control of such vehicle is arrested for an alleged offense for which the officer is required by law to take a person immediately before a magistrate (U.C.A. 41-6-102 (c) (3)).

f. When the vehicle is being operated with improper registration (U.C.A. 41-1-115)

g. When any manufacturer's mark or identification mark has been altered, defaced or obliterated (U.C.A. 41-1-115)

h. When a vehicle is found being driven on a highway in

unsafe mechanical condition (U.C.A. 41-6-157)

i. When a vehicle has been left unattended on a highway for more than 24 hours, it is presumed to be abandoned (U.C.A. 41-6-116 (10)).

j. When a vehicle has been left unattended on other public or private property for more than seven days, it is then presumed to be abandoned (U.C.A. 41-6-116).

k. When removal is necessary in the interest of public safety because of fire, flood, storm, snow or other emergency reasons or for the safety of the vehicle and its contents.

Arguably, subsection k applies to the current situation, However, this particular subsection is not authorized by statute. Accordingly, it does not provide statutory authorization for inventory and impound. Further, there was no emergency caused by fire, flood, storm, snow or other emergency and the driver of the vehicle did make arrangements to provide for the safety of her own vehicle. She requested that the Trooper contact Bryce's Autobody and have the vehicle towed. However, even though the defendant requested arrangements for her own vehicle, it is doubtful Trooper Hancock would have allowed the vehicle to be released without a search, as he had detected the odor of burnt marijuana in the vehicle. The Utah Court of Appeals has stated in State v Strickling, supra, that inventory searches are constitutional because they are not conducted to investigate criminal activity:

"Inventory searches of impounded vehicles' contents constitute an exception to the warrant requirement because such a search is not conducted to investigate criminal activity and no variant of individualized suspicion is necessary to permit one. Instead,

police conduct such inventory searches to protect property in the car, to protect police against the claim of theft, and to protect police from potential danger." Strickling at 986.

In the instant case, Trooper Hancock detected the order of burnt marijuana when retrieving the vehicle's registration from the glove box. At that time, he had probable cause to believe that the vehicle contained contraband. The basis for searching the vehicle at that point became investigatory and required individualized suspicion of criminal activity. As stated in State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d 264, 268 (Utah 1985), investigatory searches do not become constitutional, merely by labeling them inventory searches:

"However, the inventory exception does not apply when the inventory is merely "a pretext concealing an investigatory police motive". Fundamental constitutional guarantees against unreasonable searches cannot be evaded by labeling them "inventory" searches."

Under federal law as applied in recent Utah cases, the plain smell of burnt marijuana provides probable cause to search a vehicle without a warrant. See State v. Naisbitt, 827 P. 2d 969, 973 (Utah App. 1992) The Court of Appeals noted in a footnote to that decision that the Utah Constitution may not parallel the federal standard as it relates to "plain smell":

"Defendant does not challenge the search under Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution. We, therefore, are precluded from analyzing the search under the Utah constitution. See State v. Belgard 811 P. 2d 211, 215-16 (Utah App. 1991)

We note however, the standard required by the Utah Constitution may not parallel the federal standard. Recently, in considering the automobile exception to the warrant requirement, the Utah Supreme Court [in State v. Larocco, 794 P.2d 460 (Utah 1990)] disagreed with federal decisions holding no showing of exigent circumstances is necessary to search a vehicle without a warrant. See, e.g. Carney, 471 U.S. 386, 105 S. Ct. 2066. Reasoning the federal decisions "cannot be squared with the oft-stated principle that warrants-when-practicable is the best

policy." (Citation to Larocco supplied)

In State v. Larocco, 794 P.2d 460, 469 (Utah 1990), the Utah Supreme Court expressed frustration at the inconsistencies and disagreements as to when a warrant will be required for search of an automobile. The Court states that it does not agree with the federal interpretation of the standard for warrantless search of a vehicle:

"The Supreme Court's Chambers-through-Carney line of cases cannot be squared with the oft-stated principle that warrants-when-practicable is the best policy.These cases expand the automobile exception by ignoring the mobility factor and implementing the rationale of diminished expectation of privacy. This expansion and the vacillation between the warrant approach and the reasonableness approach have resulted in significant confusion about federal search and seizure law regarding automobiles." Larocco at 469.

The Court states that the time has come to establish a separate state constitutional analysis as it relates to the warrantless searches of automobiles:

"The time has come for this court, in applying an automobile exception to the warrant requirement of article I, section 14 of the Utah Constitution, to try to simplify, if possible, the search and seizure rules so that they can be more easily followed by the police and the courts and, at the same time, provide the public with consistent and predictable protection against unreasonable searches and seizures. This can be accomplished by eliminating some of the confusing exceptions to the warrant requirement that have been developed by federal law in recent years. See *id.* Specifically, this court will continue to use the concept of expectation of privacy as a suitable threshold criterion for determining whether article I, section 1 is applicable. Then if article I, section 14 applies, warrantless searches will be permitted only where they protect the safety of police or the public or to prevent the destruction of evidence." Larocco at 470.

The Court, citing Justice Zimmerman in State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d at 272, explains that warrants will be required once the safety of the officers and evidence is assured:

"As Justice Zimmerman explained in Hygh: "Once the threat that the suspect will injure the officers with concealed weapons or will destroy evidence is gone, there is no persuasive reason why the officers cannot take the time to secure a warrant. Such a requirement would present little impediment to police investigations, especially in light of the ease with which warrants can be obtained under Utah's telephonic warrant statute, U.C.A., 1953, Section 7-23-4(2)."

The Court of Appeals in Naisbitt, supra, reasoned that this same analysis would apply to a plain smell situation, "The considerations requiring a showing of exigent circumstances under the automobile exception seem to apply with equal force to the search of a vehicle based on an officer detecting the odor of marijuana." State v. Naisbitt, 827 P.2d 969, 973 (Utah App. 1992)

The Court of Appeals emphasized that arguments regarding the Utah Constitution should be briefed and argued in cases involving plain smell:

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