1995

Utah v. Wallace : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court correctly denied defendant's motion to suppress because the evidence in question was discovered pursuant to a valid inventory search. Before the trial court, defendant affirmatively waived her argument that the inventory search was not justified under the circumstances. Even if defendant did not waive her argument, the warrantless search was valid because it met the criteria of a valid inventory search: 1) it was justified under the circumstances and 2) the officers followed standardized written policy in conducting the inventory. The fact that the officer had probable cause to search the car did not in and of itself make the otherwise valid inventory search a mere pretext for an illegal warrantless search. This Court should reject a "pretext" analysis in inventory search cases and rely only on objective criteria in determining whether a warrantless inventory search is valid.

2. The officer could also legally search defendant's car because he had probable cause to believe that there was contraband in the car and exigent circumstances existed at the time the search was performed. Defendant concedes that the officer had probable cause to search the car. Exigent

circumstances existed at the time of the search because a private tow truck was on its way to remove the car from the control of the police officers.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS DISCOVERED PURSUANT TO A VALID INVENTORY SEARCH

Defendant first challenges the trial court's denial of her motion to suppress on the ground that the trial court incorrectly ruled that the search was a valid inventory search conducted pursuant to Utah Highway Patrol [UHP] policy and procedure. Defendant essentially argues that the inventory search was invalid because 1) the inventory search was not authorized by statute or justified by the circumstances surrounding the initial stop as required in State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d 264 (Utah 1985), (Brief of Appellee [Br. App.] at 7, 9, 11), and 2) the police officer had probable cause to search her car, thereby rendering the inventory search invalid as a mere pretext to illegally search the car without a warrant (Id. at 11-12).¹

¹Defendant's basic argument is that "the warrantless search of defendant's vehicle was an investigatory search for which a warrant was required and that the officer's failure to obtain a warrant prior to conducting a search of defendant's vehicle

It is well established that an inventory search is an exception to the warrant requirement of both the Utah and federal constitutions. South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 96 S. Ct. 3092 (1976); Cady v. Dombrowski, 413 U.S. 433, 445-47, 93 S. Ct. 2523, 2530-31 (1973); State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d 264, 267 (Utah 1985); State v. Gray, 851 P.2d 1217, 1220-21 (Utah App. 1993).

violated article I, section 14 of the Utah Constitution." (Br. App. at 6). As a general rule, this Court will not engage in a separate state constitutional analysis in the absence of an argument for a different analysis under both the state and federal constitutions. State v. Lafferty, 749 P.2d 1239, 1247 n. 5 (Utah 1988); State v. Ham, 910 P.2d 433, 438 n.6 (Utah 1996); State v. Carter, 812 P.2d 460, 462 n.1 (Utah App. 1991). Although defendant argues that article I, section 14 of the Utah Constitution affords her more protection from illegal searches than the Fourth Amendment, she provides no analysis or rationale for that proposition. She cites to the plurality opinion in State v. Larocco, 794 P.2d 460 (Utah 1990), and to State v. Naisbitt, 827 P.2d 969 (Utah App. 1992) to support her argument, however, she does not explain why those cases require the result she desires.

It is important to note that Larocco, which did not garner a majority of the Court, does not apply to inventory searches. State v. Gray, 851 P.2d 1217, 1222 (Utah App. 1993). Furthermore, to date, the Utah Supreme Court has only employed the same analysis as that used under the Fourth Amendment in determining whether an inventory search is valid under the Utah Constitution. State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d 264, 267-69 (Utah 1985); see also State v. Gray, 851 P.2d 1217, 1221 (Utah App. 1993). Because defendant has not proposed that her case should be analyzed any differently under the Utah Consitution, she has waived the right to have this Court apply a separate or different state constitutional analysis. See Lafferty, 749 P.2d at 1247 n. 5; Ham, 910 P.2d at 438 n.6; State v. Carter, 812 P.2d at 462 n.1.

Both constitutions permit a warrantless search of a legitimately impounded vehicle to 1) protect the private property of the owner while the vehicle remains in police custody, 2) protect the police from claims of theft, loss, or vandalism, and 3) detect dangerous conditions or instrumentalities contained within the vehicle. State v. Johnson, 745 P.2d 452, 454 (Utah 1987); Hygh, 711 P.2d at 267; State v. Gray, 851 P.2d at 1221; State v. Sterger, 808 P.2d 122, 125 (Utah App. 1991).

For a warrantless inventory search to be valid, there must first be a reasonable and proper justification to impound the vehicle. Hygh, 711 P.2d at 268; Sterger, 808 P.2d at 124-25. That justification may come either from explicit statutory authority, Hygh, 711 P.2d at 268, or from the circumstances surrounding the initial stop or impoundment, id.; State v. Johnson, 745 P.2d 452, 454 (Utah 1987); Sterger, 808 P.2d at 124. Once it has been determined that proper justification exists for the impoundment, the warrantless inventory is valid only if there is a regular set of procedures in place to adequately guard against arbitrariness and only if that procedure is followed in making the inventory. Hygh, 711 P.2d at 269; Sterger, 808 P.2d at 125.

Defendant does not argue that the inventory was not conducted pursuant to or in conformance with a regular set of procedures of the UHP. She argues only that there was no explicit statutory authority or other reasonable justification for police to inventory her car.

A. Defendant is precluded from challenging whether the inventory search was justified under the circumstances because she affirmatively waived that point below.

Before the trial court, defendant abandoned the issue of whether the inventory search was justified under the circumstances. In her memorandum in support of her motion to suppress, defendant appears to have challenged the validity of the inventory search on the ground that it had no statutory or other legal basis. However, at the suppression hearing, defendant conceded that if Trooper Hancock had not smelled burnt marijuana in the car, he could have legally conducted an inventory search (T. 6-7). The following exchanges between the trial court and defendant's counsel took place at the suppression hearing:

COURT: What if Trooper Hancock had not noticed the odor of marijuana, did not have any reasonable suspicion or probable cause, . . . that there was some contraband in the vehicle; but in fact was conducting an inventory search because the vehicle had been essentially turned over to him to turn over, again, to a towing company, since the driver and passenger were transported, I believe, by ambulance to the

hospital. I believe those are the facts. He did have possession of the vehicle, he did call a tow truck, it did arrive and he conducted a search of the vehicle (T. 6-7).

Now, absent any notice of marijuana or contraband, could he have conducted an inventory search of the vehicle legally (T. 7)?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: I think so (T. 7).

.

COURT: Was the marijuana, or the contraband allegedly found, found in some manner inconsistent with an inventory search (T. 11)?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: No (T. 11).

.

COURT: It seems to me what you're saying is the officer may legally conduct an inventory search unless he thinks there's some criminality involved, and then he can't do it unless he gets a warrant (T. 12)?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: You know, I think that's fairly close to what I'm saying, yes (T. 12).

(Emphasis added.) (See attached Appendix A).

As evidenced by the foregoing, defendant acknowledged below that but for Trooper Hancock's reporting that he had smelled burnt marijuana, the inventory search was valid. Having conceded that point, defendant solicited the trial court to suppress the evidence solely on the proposition that probable cause precludes an inventory search from being valid, not on the theory she raises on appeal that there was no justification for the

inventory in the first place. In other words, defendant affirmatively waived the issue of whether there was a legal justification for the inventory search. She invited the trial court to not even address that issue, and to base its decision solely on whether the existence of probable cause made the inventory search a mere pretext for conducting a warrantless search, thereby invalidating the inventory.

Having made that argument below, and the trial court having made its ruling based at least in part on defendant's concession, defendant should be prohibited from arguing now that the inventory itself was invalid. See State v. Parsons, 781 P.2d 1275, 1285 (Utah 1989) (defendant not permitted to seek to vacate sentence by alleging on appeal prejudicial error which he had affirmatively, knowingly, and intentionally waived at sentencing hearing); State v. Medina, 738 P.2d 1021, 1023 (Utah 1987) (court would not review appropriateness of jury instruction where defense counsel affirmatively stated at trial she had no objection to that instruction).

B. The inventory search was justified under the circumstances surrounding the search and the officers followed an established reasonable procedure for conducting the inventory.

Even if defendant did not affirmatively waive her argument

that the inventory search had no legal basis, the warrantless inventory search was still valid under the criteria set forth in Hygh, 711 P.2d at 268. The defendant correctly states that there is no express statutory authority that permits a police officer to inventory the contents of a car left at the side of a highway as the result an accident. Therefore, the issue is whether the circumstances of this case justified the inventory.

This case presents a somewhat unique fact scenario in that unlike most warrantless inventory searches, the police had not actually impounded defendant's car before beginning the inventory search. Rather, the police had been given possession and custody of the car by the defendant while they awaited the arrival of a tow truck, which police had called at defendant's request, to remove the car to a private garage. The police had been given the keys to defendant's car and had entered the car twice at defendant's request to search for her driver's license and registration.

Even though defendant's car had not technically been impounded when the inventory search was conducted, the same policies that justify a warrantless inventory search of impounded vehicles apply in these circumstances. See State v. Sterger, 808 P.2d 122, 125 (Utah App. 1991). Because the police received

custody of the car and its keys from defendant, and because the defendant was unavailable to remove her car from the roadway, the police were made responsible for the contents of the vehicle. Thus, the police were potentially liable for claims of loss or theft should any of the vehicle's contents be lost or destroyed.

This Court, in circumstances similar to those presented in this case, upheld a warrantless inventory search as proper and appropriate. State v. Sterger, 808 P.2d 122 (Utah App. 1991). In Sterger, the defendant was involved in a serious one car accident in a remote area of southern Utah. Defendant left his car to find help. A police officer arrived soon after the accident. The passengers, who were critically injured, were transported to the nearest hospital. A tow truck then arrived to remove the inoperative vehicle from the road. As the car was locked, the police officer used a "slim jim" to open one of the car doors. He then began to inventory the contents of the defendant's car. During the inventory, the officer found a green leafy substance that appeared to be marijuana. The police officer had the vehicle towed to his home where he planned to finish the inventory. The day following the accident, the car was towed to a state certified impound yard, where the inventory was completed two days after the accident. Id. at 123-24.

The defendant in Sterger argued that there was no need for the police officer to take the car into custody, but that the car could have simply been locked and left it where it was. Id. at 124. This Court disagreed and held that the surrounding circumstances justified the police officer's inventory. Id. Specifically, the Court pointed to the fact that defendant's car was partially blocking the road, the front windshield was shattered, the car was inoperable, and all the occupants had been taken away for medical attention. Id. The Court noted that because the police were authorized under those circumstances to take custody of the defendant's vehicle, "a concomitant right existed to examine and inventory its contents." Id. at 125.

In the instant case, although defendant's car was not partially blocking the road, it was left off to the side of a state road and created a potential nuisance. There was no one to remove the car because all its occupants had been transported to the hospital for medical attention. The record does not reflect whether or not the car was inoperable, but a tow truck was called, at defendant's request, to remove the car from the side of the road. In short, the police were left with the care and custody of defendant's car and its contents.

In addition to these facts, and as defendant acknowledges in her brief, UHP written policy clearly states that vehicles should be towed or impounded "[w]hen removal is necessary in the interest of public safety because of fire, flood, storm, snow or other emergency reasons or for the safety of the vehicle and its contents." Utah Highway Patrol General Order No. 83-9, Revised July 1991, p. 2 (emphasis added) (R. 75-82, **see attached Appendix B**). Defendant has not argued that her car or its contents should have been left at the side of the road. In fact, she requested the officers to make arrangements for its removal. The accident and the subsequent removal of defendant and her passenger to the hospital constituted an emergency and the safety of the car and its contents necessitated its removal.

Under these circumstances, the police were justified in following standard written procedure and taking possession of defendant's car and completing an inventory of its contents to protect defendant's possessions and to protect themselves from any claims of theft or loss. See Sterger, 808 P.2d at 124-26.

C. The mere presence of probable cause does not invalidate an otherwise valid inventory.

Defendant's second argument is that because Trooper Hancock had probable cause to search her car, the inventory search was no

more than a pretext to conduct a warrantless search and as such the inventory search was invalid.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that an inventory search of an automobile is invalid when it is "merely 'a pretext concealing an investigatory police motive.'" State v. Hygh, 711 P.2d 264, 268 (Utah 1985) (quoting South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 376, 96 S. Ct. 3092, 3100 (1976)); State v. Rice, 717 P.2d 695, 696 (Utah 1986) (per curiam). In Hygh, the Utah Supreme Court refused to uphold a warrantless inventory search on the ground that the inventory was no more than a "pretext" for a warrantless search. 711 P.2d at 270. In conducting an inventory pursuant to an impound, the police officer in Hygh did not use an inventory sheet or make a list of the items found. The officers in Hygh did not follow any of their regular policies or procedures for conducting an inventory. It was clear from the facts in that case that the officer had impounded the car simply so that he could search the car for evidence that the defendant was involved in a reported robbery.

Similarly, the Utah Supreme Court in Rice, refused to uphold an officer's inventory search which was obviously nothing more than a sham to cover for a warrantless search. 717 P.2d at 696-97. The officers in Rice suspected the defendant of drug

dealing, but they had insufficient evidence to arrest him or to obtain a search warrant. Knowing that the defendant did not have a driver's license, the police waited outside the defendant's parents' home until the defendant got into his truck and drove away. The police signaled for the defendant to pull over and the defendant pulled into an office parking lot, which was located only a few blocks from his parents' home. Police refused to let the defendant leave his locked truck in the parking lot or to call his parents to retrieve the truck. Instead, the police impounded the truck and conducted an inventory search at the police station. Id. at 696. The officers in Rice had no written standards or procedures for impoundment of the defendant's vehicle and the State conceded the invalidity of the inventory search on the ground that the officers had no reasonable basis for impounding the defendant's vehicle. Id.

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